

Minutes of a meeting of the Bradford and Airedale Health and Wellbeing Board held on Tuesday, 13 November 2018 in Ernest Saville Room - City Hall, Bradford

Commenced 10.00 am Concluded 12.05 pm

PRESENT

Members of the Board -

MEMBER	REPRESENTING
Councillor Susan Hinchcliffe	Leader of Bradford Metropolitan District Council
	(Chair)
Councillor Jackie Whiteley	Bradford Metropolitan District Council
Councillor Sarah Ferriby	Healthy People and Places Portfolio
Louise Auger	Head of Operations and Delivery for West
	Yorkshire (NHS England)
Sarah Muckle	Director of Public Health
Bev Maybury	Strategic Director Health and Wellbeing
Steve Hartley	Strategic Director, Place
Scott Bisset	Chief Superintendent Bradford District, West
	Yorkshire Police
Dr Akram Khan	Bradford City Clinical Commissioning Group
	(Deputy Chair)
Brent Kilmurray	Chief Executive of Bradford District Care NHS
	Foundation Trust
Neil Bolton-Heaton	HealthWatch Bradford and District
Kim Shutler Jones	Bradford Assembly representing the Voluntary and
	Community Sector
Ben Bush	District Commander, West Yorkshire Fire and
	Rescue Service

Also in attendance: Julie Lawreniuk alternating for Helen Hirst, John Holden alternating for Clive Kay, Alison Leech alternating for Geraldine Howley, Jill Asbury alternating for Brendan Brown

Apologies: Kersten England, Dr Richard Haddad, Dr Andy Withers and Dr James Thomas

Councillor Hinchcliffe in the Chair

15. DISCLOSURES OF INTEREST

No disclosures of interests were received.

16. MINUTES

That the minutes of the meeting held on 4 September 2018 be signed as a correct record.

17. INSPECTION OF REPORTS AND BACKGROUND PAPERS

There were no appeals submitted by the public to review decisions to restrict documents.

18. HAPPY, HEALTHY AND AT HOME - A HEALTH AND CARE PLAN FOR THE BRADFORD DISTRICT AND CRAVEN

Previous Reference: Minute 28 (2017/18)

The Board at its meeting held on 13 February 2018 considered a PowerPoint presentation on the financial position of the health and care economy.

The Board resolved:

- (1) That the Health and Wellbeing Board receives assurance via regular updates in the Chair's highlight report on progress with delivery of identified efficiency savings across the health and care system.
- (2) That appropriate programme management arrangements are put in place to ensure necessary clarity, support and challenge for the delivery of system efficiencies.

As requested at the above meeting a presentation was provided to Members which presented an update and re-assurance on the efficiency plan progress with delivery of identified savings across the health and care system.

It was reported that:

- The information presented to the Board in February 2018 showed that there was a financial gap before cost savings of £262m over a four year period to 2020/21.
- After planned cost savings of £210m, there was a remaining financial gap of £52m (CCGs - £2m, NHS Trusts - £50m, Local Authority - £nil) over this period.





- Since then, 2018/19 financial plans for NHS organisations had been revised to take into account the additional funding for the NHS announced in the Autumn Budget (2017) and actual performance for 2017/18 had been confirmed for all Bradford Place organisations.
- Plans would need to be further updated to take into account the long term funding settlement for the NHS announced in June 2018 and therefore this update concentrated on the 2018/19 position and the underlying position taken forward into 2019/20.
- Current year plan deficit position £10M better than original plan deficit.
- However, current year forecast outturn £14.4m worse than plan (Bradford Teaching Hospitals Foundation Trust and the Local Authority) due to lower savings realisation and increasing service demand. So overall, £4m worse than original plan.
- All organisations were relying on non-recurrent measures in 2018/19 to varying degrees to meet control totals or minimise the variance from the plan.
- This meant that there was an underlying deficit carried forward into 2019/20 of £23.5m which was £6.6m higher than the original plan.
- All Trusts, the Local Authority and Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven Clinical Commissioning Group had an underlying deficit position carried forward into 2019/20.
- In terms of the Local Authority the majority of the pressure was related to the Demand Management Programme in Adult Social Care; Home First Strategy was working successfully with older people; longer implementation time for working age adults; IMPower were working with the Council on the design and delivery of the remainder of the programme up to 2021/22. The other major upcoming programme in the scope of these figures was Prevention and Early Help in Children's services which was currently on target.
- The Local Authority had to set a balanced budget even when there was a
 deficit at the start of the year; shortfall of 6.5m equated to half of the
 savings plan in 2019/20 mainly by demand management.
- In terms of the CCG's the increasing deficit was due to increasing demand leading to higher expenditure than predicted. In addition some efficiency plans had not yielded the level of savings originally anticipated. In response additional demand management work was now being undertaken. For example in terms of urgent and emergency care additional alternatives to A&E were now in place including more access to primary care and voluntary and community services. It was acknowledged that we must continue to look at where things could be undertaken differently in the community to stop people from needing acute care and how the financial gap should be managed to create a sustainable system of health and care going forward.

It was reported that the financial plan update included:

- Aligning assumptions between organisations in places to help improve the "Place" financial positions.
- Understanding the impact of the long term funding settlement for the NHS





and any changes in Local Authority funding on the medium term financial outlook, recognising that whilst there was a deficit position to address, existing demand pressures and new policy requirements needed to be met.

 Continuing to aligning the limited resources to where they could be put to best use.

It was reported that the Council was in the process of preparing a draft budget which would be submitted to the Executive in December; the funding review next year would have an impact on all partners; fair funding meant significant redistribution financially, there were changes around the business rate system and there was a demand management programme in Adult Care.

The Chair highlighted the importance of spending money in transformation and prevention and the importance of working together to meet the huge challenges.

The voluntary and community sector representative highlighted the importance of involving the voluntary sector as an equal partner and how organisations could work together to help each other.

The Chief Finance Officer for NHS Bradford City and Bradford Districts Clinical Commissioning Group emphasised that all partners were involved in the discussions and the importance they played in helping to transform services.

Importance of spending any money on priorities and where it made a difference was highlighted by Board Members.

Resolved-

- (1) That Finance Directors continue their engagement with the partnership work undertaken through the Integration and Change Board and the Health and Care Partnership Boards relating to the delivery of savings across the health and care system, so that there is a shared understanding of delivery against organisational and whole system plans.
- (2) That partners consider the development of a shared system position statement which can be communicated to Government about the forthcoming spending review.
- (3) That the Leader's regular meetings with Chairs of local organisations include consideration of the financial position and the impact of planned efficiency savings.

Action: Assistant Director Finance

19. FUTURE IN MIND: BRADFORD AND CRAVEN - A REFRESH OF OUR LOCAL





TRANSFORMATION PLAN

Future in Mind was published in 2015 by the Department of Health's Children and Young People's Task Force. Local Systems were to develop and publish a five year system approach to transforming mental health services through collaboration around five areas of promoting prevention, improvement of care and access to good quality of services, development of the workforce and ensuring transparency.

The Strategic Director, Health and Wellbeing submitted **Document "F"** supported by a presentation which described how the local health and care partnerships had reviewed the progress, achievements and refreshed the local transformation plan.

It was reported that the Future in Mind Transformation Plan required an annual sign off by the Health and Wellbeing Board, the five themes being:

- Promoting resilience, prevention and early intervention
- Improving access to effective support: a system without tiers
- Care for the most vulnerable
- Accountability and transparency
- Developing the workforce

Members were informed that the current governance arrangements included a Delivery Group overseen by the system wide Mental Health and Wellbeing Partnership Programme Board and reporting to the Health and Care Partnership Boards for Bradford and Airedale, Wharfedale and Craven.

It was reported that work being undertaken to improve mental health services for children and young people included:

- Joining the system up leadership, networking, partnership and coproduction
- Training, upskilling and expanding the workforce, apprentices and volunteers
- Children and young people accessing a wider range of support, including peer led, which keep children at home, in school, ready to learn and reduce isolation.
- Children and young people, families and care givers were aware and expressing their need for mental wellbeing support.
- Nationally recognised for delivering interventions and engagement with children and families who had experienced trauma and were refugee and asylum seeking.
- Making reductions in waiting times and the waiting lists for Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services, avoiding stays in care and hospital, and widening referral routes and pathways.
- New models of care, linked to West Yorkshire and Harrogate work and local work to link to the First Response Service.
- Digital connectivity resources, tools and connectivity.





 Established new specialist services for eating disorders and perinatal support.

The refresh of the Future in Mind Transformation included:

- Clear vision: promoting, protecting and improving children and young people's mental health and wellbeing
- Co-produced with children, young people, families and services.
- A focus of 13 priorities to deliver the 5 key theme areas, main highlights included:
 - Developing a district wide campaign to address the level of information, stigma and connectivity about mental wellbeing services.
 - Expand the program in schools including the development of a "Schools Pack".
 - Baseline established and refresh of the Joint Strategic Needs
 Assessment to measure outcomes and a better focus on Special
 Educational Needs and Disability, infant mental health and Social
 and Emotional Mental Health.
 - Transform Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services and continue to develop the specialist support via Early Intervention in Psychosis, Perinatal, Intensive Home Treatment Team, Eating disorders, Learning and Development and Ambulatory Care Experience trauma informed services move away from a tier based service to one that was joined up to provide support
 - Workforce developments and influencing culture across the whole system.

Front line Services and views of Mental Health School Champions, Youth in Mind, Youth Work Apprentice and New Models of Care were presented to the Board.

It was reported that the Future in Mind Transformation Plan had made good progress, the achievements and progress were highlighted on page 15 of the report.

Members were informed that the services worked closely with police teams and diversion work was being undertaken through the criminal justice system.

It was reported that young people had input into the Future in Mind Transformation Plan; over 40 schools now had over 100 Mental Health Champions.

Members were informed that work around schools was extremely important especially in getting children back into school and stopping children from missing school; focussed work in schools was a critical part of development and early intervention was crucial; looking to support more young people, last year supported 500 children this year wanted to support 800 children.





A Youth Service apprentice spoke about her work in schools and spoke about how youth apprentices could relate to young people and could pick up on early intervention work in schools.

Members emphasised the importance of partnership work.

It was reported that a new psychiatric intensive care facility was opening up in Leeds in 2022 which would offer a local service rather than transferring people to Manchester.

Members were informed that the West Yorkshire Mental Health Trusts had been able to work together to reduce the use of "out of area" placements, in order to improve quality, experience of services and free up £1m for investment into local services.

It was reported that the aim of the Future in Mind Transformation Plan was to support young people at home rather than them getting admitted into hospital.

Resolved-

- (1) That all those who attended the meeting in relation to this item be thanked for the work they undertake in this area.
- (2) That the impact of the Future in Mind programme be tracked through the Joint Health and Wellbeing logic models and specific measurable targets for deliverables are established, eg the number of schools participating in the programme and that mental health support for young people be provided to as many schools as possible.
- (3) That consideration be given to the transition from children to adults and the mental health support that is provided to them.
- (4) That the programme engages partners in the development of an exit plan and a plan for sustainability and additional investment in children's mental health from local partners, in readiness for the end of the Future in Mind non-recurrent investment.
- (5) That the Board be provided with a case study demonstrating the way in which West Yorkshire mental health trusts have been able to work together to reduce the use of "out of area" placements, in order to improve quality, experience of services and to free up £1m for investment into local services.
- (6) That the refreshed Future in Mind Transformation Plan be approved.

Action: Strategic Director, Health and Wellbeing





20. CARE QUALITY COMMISSION LOCAL SYSTEM REVIEW - ACTION PLAN UPDATE

Previous Reference: Minute 6 (2018/19)

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) conducted a Local System Review of the Bradford District health and care system between January and June 2018. The findings of the review were positive, and a small number of recommendations were made. The local system, led by the Health and Wellbeing Board, had developed an action plan in response to those findings.

The Programme Director Integration and Change Board submitted **Document** "**G**" which reported on the progress being made in the completion of the CQC Local System Review action plan. In summary the delivery of the plan was progressing well, with a small number of actions requiring closer attention. Details were set out at Section 3 of Document "G".

Resolved-

- (1) That the Health and Wellbeing Board notes the progress with the delivery of the CQC action plan.
- (2) That the Integration and Change Board be requested to support communications, engagement and organisational development colleagues to devise a new plan for the delivery of action 3.3 of Document "G" by December 2018.

Action: Programme Director Integration and Change Board

21. BETTER CARE FUND UPDATE

The Strategic Director, Health and Wellbeing informed Members that the Department of Health and Social Care had recently announced that Bradford Council was due to receive an additional grant of £2.3 million grant aimed at easing winter pressure on the NHS.

It was reported that the District was awarded the money last month by the Department of Health and Social Care as part of a push to boost social care packages this winter, and prevent people from ending up in hospital at an already busy time of the year.

Members were informed that a decision had yet to be made on how the money would be spent. The Strategic Director, Health and Wellbeing reported that discussions were continuing with partners on how this money could be used. Work on this was expected to be completed in the next few weeks.





It was reported that so far a lot of the ideas had been quite traditional, such as boosting home care. This funding offered the chance to be a bit more reflective of the vision of how change could take place in the community and do things in a different way.

No resolution was passed on this item.

22. CHAIR'S HIGHLIGHT REPORT - HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE PARTNERSHIP (ONE WORKFORCE UPDATE), JOINT HEALTH AND WELLBEING STRATEGY LOGIC MODELS, DISTRICT PLAN ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT AND SUB GROUP UPDATES (ECB & ICB)

The Health and Wellbeing Board Chair's highlight report **Document "H"** summarised business conducted between Board meetings. November's report included an update on the Health and Social Care Partnership with a focus on the One Workforce programme, a request to sign off the logic models approach, to sign off the District Plan Annual progress report and updates from the Board's sub- groups (ECB – Executive Commissioning Board and ICB – Integration and Change Board).

The following updates were highlighted in relation to the Health and Social Care Partnership – One Workforce:

An Invitation to Tender/specification was advertised in the beginning of November for a consulting group to:

- Establish a formal Health and Social Care Economic Partnership Board with agreed scope, structural and governance arrangements as well as the identification of plans and deliverables in the broader region in order that Bradford's uniqueness in this sector could be recognised and celebrated
- Develop the One Workforce Academy involving key stakeholders and partners to set out the case for change, identifying critical success factors as well as constraints to the successful development of the Academy.
- The successful consulting group would be identified in December.
- In the New Year their work would commence and would cover an 18 month period of time.
- Also in the New Year, Skills House would be beginning to establish their professional presence on the Health and Social Care landscape through training and recruitment working across the District with Partners, Stakeholders, other employers and unemployed people/candidates.





- Recruitment of staff to support the One Workforce Programme Director (currently interim) would begin in December so people were in post by the spring.
- Consultancy work would produce communication and engagement plan(s) with the expectation of a One Workforce Launch in 2019.
- Given the amount of work to establish a fit for purpose Academy (scope, negotiation, curriculum design, partner resource implications and demand on the Academy), it was expected to be mid 2020 before the One Workforce Academy was formally opened for business.

The following update was provided in relation to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategic Logic Models:

The final logic model was attached at Appendix 1 to the report; an annual outcomes report was in development – this would provide an update on the outcomes that were listed in the strategy, and would be prepared on an annual basis for the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB). A performance framework was also in development; this would be available to the Health and Wellbeing Board on a quarterly basis, and would report on a number of process measures, giving the HWBB assurance that actions and plans were being implemented successfully (Appendix 2 to Document "H").

A Member queried why some of the data was from 2016 and not more recent and suggested that a quarterly dashboard with an Annual Outcome report would be useful.

The update in relation to the Bradford District Plan annual progress report was highlighted at paragraph 3.3 of the report (Document "H").

The updates relating to the Executive Commissioning Board and the Integration and Change Board were highlighted at paragraph 3.4 of Document "H".

Resolved-

- (1) That in relation to One Workforce, the Board notes the progress to date.
- (2) That in relation to JHWS (Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy) logic model, the Board approves the logic models and the approach set out to monitor the impact of the JHWS.
- (3) That the District Plan progress report be noted.

Action: Strategic Director Health and Wellbeing

Chair



